RECEIVED

Mar 30 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Melissa M. Frazier, Family Court Judge
Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JERELLE HICKSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000749

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the Family Court erred by transferring jurisdiction of Appellant's charges to the General Sessions court where the greater weight of the *Kent* factors and the pre-wavier evaluation favored keeping Appellant's case in the juvenile court?

II.

Whether the trial court erred in charging "the hand of one is the hand of all" where the evidence in the case did not support the charge?

III.

Whether the trial court erred in providing a vague response to a jury question that asked about the necessity of applying the "hand of one is the hand of all" during deliberations?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 21, 2023, Appellant Jerelle Hickson appeared before the Honorable Melissa M. Frazier in the Horry County Family Court for a juvenile transfer (wavier) hearing on juvenile petitions for murder, two counts of attempted murder, and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). The state was represented by Caroline F. Fox. Appellant was represented by David E. Rigney. F. Tr. 1; 4, ll. 6-15. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Fraizer took the matter under advisement. F. Tr. 86, ll. 1-3. On March 24, 2023, Judge Frazier issued an order transferring all the charges to General Sessions Court. R. (Waiver Hearing Order).

An Horry County grand jury indicted¹ Appellant for the murder of Dyquavyon Dickens-Jones (Decedent) in July 2023. R. (Indictment). The state, represented by Nancy Livesay and Delbert Leasure, called the case to trial before the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson and a jury on April 7, 2025. Appellant was again represented by Counsel Rigney. He was tried jointly with his co-defendant² Tai'Yuan Ja'Rel Jackson, who was represented by W. James Hoffmeyer. Tr. 1. On April 10, 2025, Appellant and co-defendant Jackson were both found guilty of voluntary manslaughter; Jackson was also found guilty of the accompanying weapons charge. Tr. 637-638. Appellant was sentenced to thirty years' incarceration. Tr. 654.

This appeal follows.

¹ The state also secured indictments on the attempted murder charges and the ABHAN charge but did not notice those indictments for trial. After Appellant's conviction, the state *nolle prossed* the remaining charges.

<https://publicindex.sccourts.org/Horry/PublicIndex/PISearch.aspx> case nos: 2023GS2603151, 153, 154

² Jackson was indicted for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Tr. 14, ll. 15-22.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In April of 2022, Appellant, co-defendant Jackson, and several other teenagers headed to Myrtle Beach, South Carolina for spring break. The group traveled to the beach in three separate vehicles: a black Tahoe belonging to Li'Quan Hickson, a gold Tahoe belonging to co-defendant Jackson, and a white Honda belonging to co-defendant Jackson's girlfriend Shyra. Tr. 135, l. 11 – 137, l. 14; Tr. 140, l. 10 – 142, l. 5. The large group rented a condo from Thursday to Sunday. Tr. 137, ll. 24-25. The condo was equipped with a Ring doorbell camera.³ Tr. 474, ll. 1-25.

On Saturday, April 23, the group was out for the night in their three vehicles, riding the strip, and “just chilling.” Tr. 139 – 140. The group eventually made its way to a parking lot at Withers Drive and Mr. Joe White Avenue, just off of Ocean Boulevard, around 12:35 a.m. in the early morning hours of April 24. Roughly an hour later, gunfire erupted in the parking lot. A security camera from a business across the street from the parking lot captured the incident from a distance. Tr. 138, l. 1 – 139, l. 1; State's Exhibit 45 – EVENT parking lot security video (on file with this Court).

Myrtle Beach Police Department responded to the scene. Officer Kelsey Spaziani was responding to the scene when she was flagged down at nearby Sugar Alley to attend to a shooting victim. There she encountered the decedent laying in the alleyway by a sedan, sweating profusely, incoherent, and in and out of consciousness. She observed a single gunshot wound to the decedent's buttocks. She did not locate a weapon on or around his person. The decedent was transported by EMS to the hospital where he tragically succumbed to his injury. Tr. 509, l. 24 – 510, l. 12; Tr. 513, ll. 16-25.

³Ring is a home security subscription-based service that allows users to record activities at their door when the camera is triggered by motion or pushing the doorbell.

Members of the crime scene unit (CSU) processed the parking lot and surrounding areas. CSU investigator Shylah Davis photographed the sedan in Sugar Alley to document a bullet hole in that vehicle. She next moved to the far side of the middle of the parking lot to photograph a second vehicle that had sustained gunshot damage before moving toward the center of the parking lot to photograph a third vehicle that had sustained gunshot damage. Tr. 270, l. 18 – 271, l. 15. She did not observe any shell casings around the vehicles that had gunshot damage. Tr. 277, l. 2 – 278, l. 15. She collected numerous shell casings from the scene, with most of the casings being found on the Withers Drive side of the parking lot.⁴ Tr. 281, ll. 17-22; Tr. 282, l. 18 – 295, l. 16.

CSU officer Nathan Howitt responded to the scene to determine the trajectory of the gunshots. He was able to place a single trajectory rod in one vehicle to obtain “the general direction of where [the gunfire] possibly came from.” The general direction of gunfire appeared to originate in the same general area where most of the shell casings were found near Withers Drive. Tr. 383, l. 1-389, l. 11.

Individuals could not be determined due to the quality of the surveillance video; however, the video did lead police to focus the investigation on the gold Tahoe and the black Tahoe. Using various license plate readers, law enforcement was able to identify and produce photographs of the vehicles. State’s Exhibit 70-73 – LPR captures (on file with this Court). Search warrants were executed on the vehicles once they were in custody of law enforcement. Inside of the gold Tahoe, officers located the green outfit co-defendant Jackson was believed to be wearing the night of the shooting and a GLOCK 17 handgun. Tr. 305, l. 14 – 306, l. 10; Tr. 363, ll. 18-25. Inside the black Tahoe, officers located a shell casing in the driver’s seat, a 24-

⁴This is the same section of the parking lot where the black Tahoe and gold Tahoe are seen parking in State’s Exhibit 45.

round GLOCK magazine, a black ski mask, and six window scrapers. Tr. 355, l. 14 – 358, l. 12. No damage was documented on the exterior or interior of either Tahoe. Tr. 308, l. 21 – 309, l. 10; Tr. 353, l. 13 – 354, l. 25. It was noted that stickers/decals that had originally been on the back of window of both Tahoes had been removed by the time the vehicles were secured by law enforcement. Tr. 164, ll. 12-14; Tr. 302, l. 13 – 303, l. 2.

Subsequent testing of the green outfit revealed gunshot residue (GSR) on the top and shorts. Tr. 462, l. 7 – 463, l. 17. Firearms testing revealed that the GLOCK 17 handgun from the gold Tahoe belonging to Jackson had fired twenty of the recovered shell casings. Tr. 431, ll. 16-25. Testing additionally revealed that five recovered shell casings were fired from a second firearm, four of the recovered casings came from a third firearm, two recovered casings were found to have been fired from a fourth firearm, and seven recovered casings were found to have come from a fifth firearm. In total, eighteen shell casings were fired by four other guns not accounted for by the state. Tr. 435, ll. 2-5. Tr. 443, l. 14 – 445, l. 16. The bullet fragment recovered from the decedent was determined to *not* have been fired by the GLOCK 17 handgun found in Jackson's gold Tahoe. Tr. 446, ll. 4-14.

At trial, the state alleged “the defendants acted together in concert to commit [murder]; thus, both are responsible for each other's actions.” Tr. 88, ll. 22-25. The main thrust of the state's theory was that Appellant and Jackson fired shots at intended victims in a Chevy Malibu that pulled into the parking lot but struck and killed an innocent bystander. Tr. 89, ll. 12-14; Tr. 90, ll. 11-24. Only one witness, Nikera McAlister, testified at trial that Appellant was shooting a gun that night. McAlister initially told police she did not see who was shooting and only changed her statement the Friday before trial. Tr. 71-74; 223-226. Jackson admitted to police that he had fired his gun into the air twice that night in the parking lot. Tr. 244; 253.

An autopsy determined that Decedent had suffered a gunshot wound to the trunk. The projectile entered through the left buttock, transecting a portion of the bowel and liver, before becoming lodged in the diaphragm. The projectile caused “significant internal injuries and massive bleeding” that led to death. Tr. 518, ll. 14 – 519, l. 12.

ARGUMENTS

I.

The Family Court abused its discretion by transferring jurisdiction of Appellant's cases to the Court of General Sessions where the *Kent* factors and the pre-adjudicatory waiver report supported the family court retaining jurisdiction over the matter.

Standard of Review

The appellate court will affirm a transfer order unless the family court has abused its discretion. *State v. Miller*, 363 S.C. 635, 641, 611 S.E.2d 309, 312 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *State v. Avery*, 333 S.C. 284, 292, 509 S.E.2d 476, 481 (1998)). The term 'abuse of discretion' has no opprobrious implication and may be found if the conclusions reached by the lower court are without reasonable factual support. *State v. Corey D.*, 339 S.C. 107, 118, 529 S.E.2d 20, 26 (2000); *Engle v. Engle*, 343 S.C. 444, 449–50, 539 S.E.2d 712, 714 (Ct. App. 2000) (stating an abuse of discretion occurs when the court is controlled by an error of law or where the order, based upon the findings of fact, is without evidentiary support). *Miller*, 363 S.C. at 641, 611 S.E.2d at 312.

Relevant Facts

Because Appellant was sixteen (16) years old at the time of the incident, his case originated in the juvenile court. A wavier hearing was held pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-1210 and *Kent v. United States*, 383 U.S. 541 (1966) to determine whether to retain jurisdiction of the charges in the Family Court or to transfer jurisdiction of the charges to General Sessions. During the hearing, the state elicited testimony from Detective Christopher White and Horry County Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ) Director Miracle Griffith. Before the court were

some of Appellant's school records,⁵ DJJ event reports, a joint SCDDSN/DMH forensic competency evaluation, and the pre-waiver evaluation report by Dr. Michele Akers-Woody. F. Tr. 1-5.

The joint SCDDSN/DMH evaluation was conducted on August 16, 2022, and lasted 120 minutes. The evaluation was based on a single interview with Appellant, his school records from Florence County School District Three, an SCDMH Episodes of Care printout, a Hope Health progress note from August 2021, and the information pertaining to Appellant's charges. R. (Competency Report, pp. 1-2.). The report recognized Appellant was a "special education student," according to Florence County School District Three. Appellant was classified as a student "with a primary disability of Specific Learning Disability and a secondary disability of Other Health Impairment." R. (Competency Report, p. 2). While he was in the general education program for much of the day, he attended a resource period where he received special instruction. R. (Competency Report, p. 2.)

His school records reflected a history of disruptive behaviors. R. (Competency Report, p. 2.) Appellant reported he was diagnosed with ADHD and took medicine on school days to maintain focus. R. (Competency Report, p. 3). He was a patient at Pee Dee Mental Health Center from June 17, 2013 to March 11, 2015, but those records were not obtained for review. R. (Competency Report, p. 3). Previous psychological testing indicated Appellant's intellectual functioning was in the average range. R. (Competency Report, p. 3).

⁵Appellant had an Individual Education Program (IEP) that was entered during the pre-trial *Jackson v. Denno* hearing – Defense Exhibit 1, pre-trial hearing. Counsel Rigney claimed this report was presented to the Family Court during the waiver hearing. PT. Tr. 34, l. 16-20. However, there is no record of the IEP being presented to the Family Court, although there was testimony elicited by the state about the IEP during the wavier hearing. F. Tr. 39, ll. 5-9; F. Tr. 46, ll. 12-25. Critically, the IEP revealed that Appellant had a 0% reading level.

Because Appellant was a novice to the justice system, he had to be educated on the court process during the evaluation. According to the evaluation, immediately after receiving education, Appellant was “able to demonstrate an understanding of his charge, as well as a factual and rational understanding of legal proceedings.” R. (Competency Report, pp. 4-5). He was found to not suffer from any mental disease or disability, and he was found competent to stand trial. R. (Competency Report, pp. 5-6).

The fifteen-page pre-waiver evaluation was based on interviews with Appellant and his mother,⁶ *current* psychological testing of Appellant, and various records and collateral sources. R. (Pre-waiver Evaluation (PWE), p. 2). The report first noted that this was Appellant’s first and only referral to the juvenile justice system. R. (PWE, p. 3). It offered a starkly different opinion from the competency evaluation, reporting that Appellant was unable to recount the charges and punishment, requiring Counsel Rigney to explain everything to him. After having the charges explained to him, Appellant denied involvement stating: “[t]hey are trying to say I hurt people. That I killed someone. I don’t want to talk about it. I only have my truth. I got accused of something I didn’t do.” He reported his co-defendants “really know who did it, but they try to put my name on it cuz I’m the youngest.” R. (PWE, p. 3). Appellant’s mother likewise was still unsure about the events that led to Appellant’s arrest and informed the evaluator that she “hear[d] from the street my boy wasn’t even the shooter, he was running.” R. (PWE, pp. 3-4).

Two years prior to the incident, Appellant moved from his mother’s house in Florence to live with his father in Lake City. This was primarily because he lived with all females and did not like being the only boy. While Appellant stated he was living with his father at the time of

⁶ Appellant’s father Jerode McFadden did not answer his telephone and did not have a voicemail set up, therefore he was not interviewed as part of the evaluation. R. (Pre-waiver Evaluation, p. 2).

the incident, Ms. Hickson maintained that Appellant split his time between her house and his father's house. R. (PWE, p. 4). The structure of the two households was completely different. While Ms. Hickson was "a good mom," she was strict. Rules had to be followed, and Appellant was assigned household chores such as taking out the trash, cleaning the yard, and feeding the dog. Ms. Hickson maintained that when Appellant was in her care, she did not have many problems with Appellant because she was strict. When asked about his home with his father, Appellant stated "I was expecting rules like my mom's, but they didn't have any. There's no rules." He also did not have chores at his father's house. He described his relationship with his father as okay, stating "even when I stay in the same house, I don't mess with my dad." R. (PWE, p. 5). Appellant knew that Mr. McFadden had been in prison "for a long time" for "some assault."⁷ R. (PWE, p. 5)

Appellant discussed being shot in November 2021 and witnessing his friend get shot in the chest during the same incident. He was struck three times and reported bullet fragments were still in his hip that caused him pain. He was scheduled to have the bullet fragments removed prior to being detained. He never received therapy for the shooting incident, despite displaying symptoms of PTSD such as flashbacks where he sees "boys with guns and the blood" and "hears gunshots," has nightmares that impair his sleep, and experiences somatic symptoms including a fast heartbeat, pain in the chest, and feeling hot. R. (PWE, p. 7). He was also "worried and scared about getting shot again." R. (PWE, p. 5; p. 7).

⁷McFadden and a co-defendant were charged with murder in 2006. F. Tr. 38, ll. 3-19. The public index reveals that charge was *nolle prossed*, and McFadden pled to misprision of a felony for a ten-year sentence, suspended to 1177 days. <https://publicindex.sccourts.org/Florence/PublicIndex/PISearch.aspx> Case nos: I331140 and 2007GS2100562

The psychological testing and summary provided perhaps the most invaluable information about Appellant. Ms. Hickson reported that her “boy is not smart. He can barely read and can’t spell. He’s always struggled.” This statement was borne out through Appellant’s records and the updated testing that he underwent. Appellant had an IEP since elementary school for both his ADHD and learning disabilities. He also always had poor grades, and his learning disabilities “have impaired his reading, math, and writing. R. (PWE, p. 7). His report cards from sixth through eighth grades showed grades in core classes, such as math, science, and language, ranging from a *seven* to a *seventy-one*. His records also revealed that he repeated the third and eighth grades. R. (Wavier Hearing State’s Exhibit 2 – school records). Appellant revealed he was teased in school for being short and not being able to read. R. (PWE, p. 7).

The current mental status examination revealed Appellant had poor concrete verbal reasoning skills, verbal comprehension, and verbal expression, with a limited fund of knowledge. His thought process revealed an inability to think in the abstract. Testing⁸ placed his Full-Scale IQ at 54, which falls within the *extremely low range* of intellectual ability compared to other children his age. R. (PWE, p. 10). Appellant’s MMPI-A-RF⁹ revealed he lacked positive emotional experiences and was socially disengaged. He likely experienced anhedonia (the inability to experience joy or pleasure) and psychomotor retardation (a visible slowing of physical movements, speech, and cognitive processing, which is commonly a symptom of severe

⁸Due to Appellant’s documented reading disability, the evaluator read all measures and defined many words for him during the evaluation. R. (PWE, p. 10). Again, according to Appellant’s IEP, he has a reading level of 0%. R. (Defense Pre-trial Ex. 1)

⁹The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-Adolescent-Restructured Form is an empirically based, self-report personality assessment for use with adolescents. It provides relevant information to aid clinicians in problem identification, diagnosis, and treatment planning for adolescents ages 14-to-18. R. (PWE, p. 11).

depression, bipolar disorder, or schizophrenia.) Appellant was found to be self-defeating, self-degrading, and passive. It was found to be likely that Appellant had few or no true friends and was introverted, socially withdrawn, and isolated. He reported being shy, easily embarrassed, and uncomfortable around others. R. (PWE, pp. 11-12).

Appellant had been prescribed medication for ADHD following his diagnosis when he was aged six or seven. He took medication and received counseling for his ADHD for some years. However, he had not received counseling for approximately six years at the time of the pre-waiver evaluation, and he reported that he had stopped taking his ADHD medication upon moving to his father's home. R. (PWE, p. 8). Appellant denied having a history of alcohol and substance abuse. He confirmed he tried vaping, Hennessey, and marijuana but did not "like doing no [sic] stupid stuff." Ms. Hickson only had knowledge of Appellant being introduced to those substances while he was at the beach for spring break. She admitted she did not know what occurred at Appellant's father's house. R. (PWE, p. 7).

Ms. Hickson acknowledged that Appellant had become easily angered and acted out before. She stated however that he did not fight "too much." Appellant reported he had gotten into several fights since he was a little kid. He discussed an incident at the school homecoming in November of 2021, where he "stomped" on an individual's head and the person developed a concussion. There is no record of this fight in the documentation provided, despite the school records extending through December 2021. F. Tr. 43, ll. 8-10. Further, Appellant's school records supported his mother's recollection. Behavioral incident reports covering August 2016 to June 2022 revealed fifty-six (56) incidents, of which *only two* involved physical fights

occurring on the bus.¹⁰ R. (PWE, p. 8). Curiously, Appellant indicated that he enjoyed fighting because “you never know what a person is capable of...instead of violence, you can fight it out.” R. (PWE, p. 8). He confirmed that if someone else starts a fight with him, he would finish it, even if the person was on the ground because that is how he protects himself. He maintained that he had never used a knife or gun to protect himself. Appellant acknowledged that he had never been taught how to process or handle emotions. R. (PWE, p. 8).

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