THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Melissa M. Frazier, Family Court Judge
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Sep 14 2026

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2025-000749

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JERELLE HICKSON,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104137

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, South Carolina 29528

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The family court properly exercised its discretion in transferring Appellant's charges to the Court of General Sessions because the family court's order is supported by evidence in the record and the *Kent* factors support the transfer of jurisdiction.

A. Standard of Review

"[An] appellate court will affirm a transfer order unless the family court has abused its discretion." *State v. Miller*, 363 S.C. 635, 641, 611 S.E.2d 309, 312 (Ct. App. 2005). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006).

B. Discussion

Appellant's argument regarding the family court's waiver of jurisdiction to general sessions consists of two main assertions. First, Appellant asserts the family court put too much weight on the seriousness of Appellant's offenses. Second, Appellant asserts that the family court disregarded his rehabilitation potential. These assertions are mystifying. Appellant was charged with *multiple* serious offenses, including murder, two counts of attempted murder, and ABHAN. (I Tr. 4). The family court considered all the evidence before it, including the evidence Appellant contends the family court disregarded, and decided its jurisdiction should be waived to general sessions. (Or. 1-10). As there is evidence in the record to support the family court's determination, the family court did not abuse its discretion.

The family court has exclusive jurisdiction over children who are accused of criminal activity. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-3-510(A)(4). However, a family court may waive jurisdiction over a criminal matter and transfer its jurisdiction to the court of general sessions. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-1210(5) & (6). Upon a motion to transfer jurisdiction, the family court is required to determine if it is in the best interests of both the child and the community before granting a transfer request. *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 64, 502 S.E.2d 63, 70 (1998). The family court is further

required to consider eight factors, as outlined by the United States Supreme Court in *Kent v. United States*, 383 U.S. 541 (1966). *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 558-59, 647 S.E.2d 144, 160 (2007).

Our supreme court has listed those factors as:

- (1) The seriousness of the alleged offense.
- (2) Whether the alleged offense was committed in an aggressive, violent, premeditated, or willful manner.
- (3) Whether the alleged offense was against persons or against property, greater weight being given to offenses against persons especially if personal injury resulted.
- (4) The prosecutive merit of the complaint.
- (5) The desirability of trial and disposition of the entire offense in one court.
- (6) The sophistication and maturity of the juvenile as determined by consideration of his home, environmental situation, emotional attitude and pattern of living.
- (7) The record and previous history of the juvenile, including previous contacts with law enforcement agencies, juvenile courts and other jurisdictions, prior periods of probation, or prior commitments to juvenile institutions.
- (8) The prospects for adequate protection of the public and the likelihood of reasonable rehabilitation of the juvenile (if he is found to have committed the alleged offense) by the use of procedures, services and facilities currently available.

Id. at 559, 647 S.E.2d at 160.

The family court must provide a sufficient statement of the reasons for the transfer in its order. *State v. Avery*, 333 S.C. 284, 293, 509 S.E.2d 476, 481 (1998). "The order should be sufficient to demonstrate that the statutory requirement of full investigation has been met and that the question has received full and careful consideration by the family court." *Id.* The decision to transfer jurisdiction lies within the discretion of the family court. *Id.* at 292, 509 S.E.2d at 481. Further, our supreme court has stated that "[i]n evaluating whether the family court has abused its

discretion, we consider the *Kent* factors and emphasize that the serious nature of the offense is a major factor in the transfer decision." *State v. Corey D.*, 339 S.C. 107, 118, 529 S.E.2d 20, 26 (2000).

Here, the family court conducted a thorough investigation as statutorily required. During the waiver hearing, the family court heard testimony about the incident leading to Appellant's charges for murder, attempted murder, and ABHAN. (I Tr. 6-37). The family court heard extensive testimony regarding Appellant's life and intelligence along with having reports about his intelligence submitted for the court's consideration. (I Tr. 37-70). The family court heard testimony about Appellant's violent and unruly behavior at DJJ during the pendency of this case and as it related to potentially rehabilitative benefits he could hope to receive from DJJ programs should he be adjudicated delinquent. (I Tr. 37-70). After considering this testimony and reviewing the documents submitted for review, the family court determined it was appropriate to waive jurisdiction. (Or. 1-10). The family court's order discussing each of the *Kent* factors in detail demonstrates a full investigation occurred, and the record supports the family court's decision.

First, the family court's determination that protection of the community favored transferring Appellant's case to general sessions is supported by evidence in the record. Appellant was charged with murder, two counts of attempted murder, and ABHAN. (I Tr. 4). As the family court noted, if he stayed in family court and was adjudicated delinquent, he would only face an indeterminate sentence not to exceed his twenty-second birthday with parole guidelines of 36 to 54 months. (Or. 5). Given the serious nature and number of charges, the family court's determination that adequate protection of the public would be problematic if Appellant served a short, indeterminate sentence in DJJ is supported.

Second, the family court's determination that the offenses were committed in an aggressive, violent, and willful manner is also supported by the record. As the family court's order notes, Appellant went to the beach armed with a firearm and did not concern himself with the lives of others when he chose to fire that firearm into a parking lot multiple times. (Or. 5-6). Further, the family court pointed to the Ring doorbell footage, which showed Appellant in a celebratory mood after the shooting. (Or. 6).

Third, the family court's determination that the offense was committed against people and property is supported by the deceased victim, the injured victims, and vehicles at the scene that sustained gunshot damage. (Or. 6).

Fourth, the family court's determination that a grand jury would likely return an indictment based on the testimony presented at the waiver hearing is supported by testimony presented at the waiver hearing. (Or. 6; I Tr. 6-37).

Fifth, the family court noted that Appellant had a co-defendant, who was an adult charged in general sessions. (Or. 6). The family court stated this factor was not controlling, but a transfer would serve judicial economy and be less impactful on the various victims' families if Appellant and Jackson's charges were heard together. (Or. 6).

Sixth, the family court's discussion of Appellant's sophistication and maturity is supported by the record. (Or. 6-8). The family court discussed Appellant's family history, including the lack of structure and support provided by his father and the contradictions Appellant provided regarding his gang involvement. (Or. 7). The family court stated it reviewed Appellant's psychological and intellectual testing, going so far as to briefly discuss the results of that testing, which admittedly showed Appellant placed in the "extremely low average" range in most areas. (Or. 7). The family court's ruling that "upon reviewing all the other evidence presented, [Appellant] appears to be [a]

very street smart and sav[v]y individual," is supported by evidence other than Appellant's intellectual and psychological testing, as this *Kent* factor is not limited to consideration of just medical, psychological, or intellectual testing results as Appellant seems to suggest. (Or. 7).

Directly after stating Appellant appeared to be street smart and savvy, the family court briefly discussed Appellant's "extensive" school disciplinary record and his equally "excessive" number of incidents while housed at DJJ, which occurred at least weekly based on testimony from the waiver hearing. (Or. 7-8; III Tr. 56). Appellant's school and DJJ records support the family court's statement that Appellant was street smart and savvy because his records indicate that he routinely participated in violent activities, sometimes without those activities being noticed based on Appellant's self-reported violent activities that did not appear in either record. Ultimately, the family court did not specifically state whether this factor favored retaining or waiving jurisdiction. (Or. 7-8). The family court's discussion focused on Appellant's testing and the results submitted to the court, as well as testimony concerning the lengthy list of his aggressive incidents both at school and in DJJ.

Seventh, the family court determined Appellant had no prior criminal charges but noted that Appellant had a history of prior violent acts from which he escaped prosecution. (Or. 8). This determination is also supported by the record based on Appellant's self-reported incident involving stomping on another student's head at homecoming. (I Tr. 47-49). This is further supported by multiple reports of fighting and aggressive activities both at school and in DJJ.

Eighth, the family court's discussion of prospects for adequate protection of the public and the likelihood of Appellant's rehabilitation is supported by the record. The family court noted the charges were serious and involved a loss of life, and if adjudicated delinquent, would suggest a disregard for others that necessitated caution when considering protection of the public. (Or. 9).

The family court discussed the stark difference in sentence length should it retain jurisdiction versus waiving jurisdiction. (Or. 9). The family court also noted that the wavier evaluation was based on information provided by self-reporting and from Appellant's mother. (Or. 9). The court stated that Appellant's mother's information was at least incomplete based on testimony presented at the hearing or, in some instances, fully inaccurate. (Or. 9). The court also considered Appellant's actions, including continuing down a violent path after he was shot several months prior to this incident instead of avoiding violent circumstances. (Or. 9-10). Therefore, family court's conclusion that Appellant would pose a risk of harm to the public if not transferred to general sessions is supported by the record because he continued to act aggressively and associate with people who also acted aggressively even after being a victim of gun violence himself. (Or. 10).

Moreover, the family court's noted concern that Appellant would not be able to accomplish treatment goals for rehabilitation in DJJ prior to his twenty-second birthday is also supported by the record. (Or. 10). Appellant had a lengthy and violent history in DJJ, which included weekly incidents. (I Tr. 56). Merely because DJJ's evaluators somehow determined that Appellant could possibly be rehabilitated despite his charges for *murder*, attempted murder, and ABHAN, the family court's concern over the short amount of time for such rehabilitation is valid given Appellant's history.

As the family court's order shows, the family court undertook a thorough investigation before deciding to waive jurisdiction to general sessions. Because evidence exists to support the family court's waiver, the family court did not abuse its discretion. *See State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. at 560, 647 S.E.2d at 161 ("Because we review the lower court's decision only for an abuse of discretion, this Court would have to find the family court's order wholly unsupported by the record in this regard to find error."). Appellant's charges—murder, attempted murder, ABHAN—were

serious and violent. The family court considered the *Kent* factors and found evidence in the record to support waiving jurisdiction to general sessions. Merely because the serious nature of Appellant's four charges contributed to the family court's determination does not indicate the family court abused its discretion, especially where the family court's determination has support in the record. *See Corey D.*, 339 S.C. at 118, 529 S.E.2d at 26 ("In evaluating whether the family court has abused its discretion, we consider the *Kent* factors and emphasize that the serious nature of the offense is a major factor in the transfer decision.").

II. The trial court properly exercised its discretion by denying Appellant's request to refrain from charging "the hand of one is the hand of all" because evidence in the record supported giving such a charge to the jury.

A. Standard of Review

"The trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina." *State v. Marin*, 415 S.C. 475, 482, 783 S.E.2d 808, 812 (2016) (citation modified) (quoting *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011)). "The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). "An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *Pagan*, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265. "In reviewing jury charges for error, we must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial." *State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 463 (Ct. App. 2013). "The substance of the law is what must be instructed to the jury, not any particular verbiage." *State v. Smith*, 315 S.C. 547, 554, 446 S.E.2d 411, 415 (1994).

B. Discussion

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in charging accomplice liability solely on his assertion that the State failed to establish a mutual plan or agreement between Appellant and Jackson "to commit a murder" and that one of the two then fired the fatal shot. (Int. App. Br. 24-25). Appellant seems to suggest that the State needed to show some grandiose plan between Appellant and Jackson and that the State needed to show all the specific details of this plan for an accomplice liability charge to be appropriate. That is incorrect.

"Under the doctrine we refer to in South Carolina as 'the hand of one is the hand of all,' the State proves the defendant guilty by proving he had a mutual plan or agreement with another person to commit one crime, and during the course of committing that initial crime, the other person committed a second crime they had not agreed to commit." *State v. Sellers*, 442 S.C. 140, 148, 898 S.E.2d 116, 120 (2024); *see also Butler v. State*, 435 S.C. 96, 97-98, 866 S.E.2d 347, 348 (2021) ("Under the theory the 'hand of one is the hand of all,' when two people join together to commit a crime, and during the commission of that crime one of the two commits another crime, both may be criminally liable for the unplanned crime if it was a natural and probable consequence of their common plan to commit the initial crime."). "In order to establish the parties agreed to achieve an illegal purpose, thereby establishing presence by pre-arrangement, the State need not prove a formal expressed agreement, but rather can prove the same by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties." *State v. Gibson*, 390 S.C. 347, 354, 701 S.E.2d 766, 770 (Ct. App. 2010). "[T]he trial court must determine whether there is any evidence the defendant had a mutual plan or agreement with another person to commit an initial crime." *Sellers*, 422 S.C. at 149, 898 S.E.2d at 121.

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